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9099 Frank M. Weiser, et al., Index 655851/16
Plaintiffs-Appellants,

-against-

Citigroup, Inc., et al.,
Defendants-Respondents,

Susanne Strows, et al.,
Defendants.
_________________________

Law Office of David R. Lurie, PLLC, Brooklyn (David R. Lurie of
counsel), for appellants.

Hughes Hubbard & Reed LLP, New York (Marc A. Weinstein of
counsel), for respondents.

_________________________

Order, Supreme Court, New York County (Nancy M. Bannon, J.),

entered July 3, 2018, which, insofar as appealed from as limited

by the briefs, granted defendants Citigroup, Inc., Citibank,

N.A., Citi Private Bank, Citicards, and Citicorp Credit Services,

Inc. (USA)'s motion to dismiss the causes of action for

conversion and money had and received as against Citicorp Credit

Services (Citi Credit) and the causes of action for breach of

contract and violations of Uniform Commercial Code (UCC) 4-401 as



against Citibank, N.A. (Citibank), unanimously affirmed, without

costs.

Plaintiffs allege that their long-time bookkeeper, defendant

Susanne Strows, perpetrated a fraud against them over a period of

seven years, presenting checks drawn on their checking account

with Citibank to plaintiff Dr. Weiser for signature, representing

that the checks were for the payment of business expenses, and

later altering the checks to add her own personal credit card

account number, and using the checks to pay her own credit card

bills. Plaintiffs allege that, because of the trust that Dr.

Weiser reposed in Strows, this fraud went undetected until

February 2016, when Citibank's representatives reported it to Dr.

Weiser in person.

Citibank's actual knowledge of the fraud in February 2016

is, at this pleading stage, enough to sustain the claim of

commercial bad faith that would render Citibank ineligible for

the protection of UCC 3-405(1)(c) (see Getty Petroleum Corp. v

American Express Travel Related Servs. Co., 90 NY2d 322, 331-32, 

[1997]; Prudential-Bache Sec. v Citibank, 73 NY2d 263, 275,

[1989]), i.e., the "fictitious payee" or "padded payroll" defense

(Getty, 90 NY2d at 325, 329).

However, UCC 3-405(1)(c) bars plaintiffs' claims against

Citi Credit. Nowhere in any of their papers — either the
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complaint or Dr. Weiser's opposition affidavit — do plaintiffs

allege other than conclusorily that Citi Credit, like Citibank a

subsidiary of defendant Citigroup, Inc., had actual knowledge of

the fraud.  Plaintiffs acknowledge in the complaint that Citibank

and Citi Credit, while affiliates, are separate corporate

entities.  The fact that Strows's employer paid her credit card

bills, even for years, does not alone establish that Citi Credit,

which performed credit card services for Citigroup, had the

requisite "actual knowledge" to fall within the commercial bad

faith exception to UCC 3-405(1)(c) (see e.g. Hartford Acci. &

Indem. Co. v American Express Co., 74 NY 2d 153, 163 [1989]).

Although plaintiffs' claims against Citibank are not barred

by UCC 3-405(1)(c), they are barred by plaintiffs' failure to

satisfy a condition precedent to suit created by UCC 4-406(4) and

Citibank's checking account rules and regulations as set forth in

its CitiBusiness Client Manual (see Clemente Bros. Contr. Corp. v

Hafner-Milazzo, 23 NY3d 277 [2014]; Gluck v JPMorgan Chase Bank,

12 AD3d 305, 306 [1st Dept 2004]; Josephs v Bank of N.Y., 302

AD2d 318, 318 [1st Dept 2003]).  Plaintiffs failed, as required

by the manual, to "notify us [Citibank] in writing  within 30

days after we send or make available to you [plaintiffs] your

account statement and accompanying items of any errors,

discrepancies, or unauthorized transactions."  The manual warned
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that this failure would result in Citibank's not being liable

"for debits or charges to your account resulting from such

errors, discrepancies, or lack of authorization, or for losses

resulting from subsequent related occurrences."  The last

disputed check was issued in February 2016.  Although, as the

complaint alleges, Dr. Weiser told the Citibank representatives

in his office on February 5, 2016 that none of the checks used to

pay Strows's credit card bills were "properly payable,"

plaintiffs did not notify Citibank in writing that the checks

were unauthorized until July 2016, more than 30 days after the

last relevant statement and accompanying items had become

available to them.

Contrary to plaintiffs' contention that Citibank failed to

provide account statements that contained information sufficient

to enable a vigilant customer to detect wrongdoing, the

documentary evidence demonstrates that, together with the account

statements, Citibank regularly forwarded to plaintiffs copies of

the cancelled checks, which showed Strows's personal credit card

number written on the "re:" line.  The cases on which plaintiffs

rely are distinguishable, as the courts in those cases did not

find as a matter of law that the account statements and returned

checks contained sufficient information to enable the depositors

to detect wrongdoing (see Arrow Bldrs. Supply Corp. v Royal Natl.
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Bank of N.Y., 21 NY2d 428 [1968]; Key Appliance v National Bank

of N. Am., 75 AD2d 92 [1st Dept 1980]).

Plaintiffs contend that, in light of its actual knowledge of

Strows's fraud, Citibank should be estopped to raise the UCC

4-406 bar to their suit. However, as indicated, the record

demonstrates that, far from concealing the fraud, Citibank gave

plaintiffs all the documentation they needed to discover it.

The Decision and Order of this Court entered
herein on April 25, 2019 (117 AD3d 629 [1st
Dept 2019] is hereby recalled and vacated
(see M-2879 decided simultaneously herewith).

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 3, 2019

_______________________
CLERK
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Sweeny, J.P., Gische, Tom, Gesmer, Singh, JJ.

9245 Laslo Erdosi, Index 24053/13E
Plaintiff-Respondent,

-against-

Fabi International, Inc.,
Defendant,

Oz Moving & Storage, Inc.,
Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

An appeal having been taken to this Court by the above-named
appellant from an order of the Supreme Court, Bronx County
(Fernando Tapia, J.), entered on or about June 25, 2018,

And said appeal having been argued by counsel for the
respective parties; and due deliberation having been had thereon,
and upon the stipulation of the parties hereto dated July 18,
2018,

It is unanimously ordered that said appeal be and the same
is hereby withdrawn in accordance with the terms of the aforesaid
stipulation.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 3, 2019

_______________________
CLERK
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Sweeny, J.P., Richter, Kapnick, Oing, Singh, JJ.

9452 Andrew Mable, Index 25611/15
Plaintiff-Appellant,

-against-

384 East Associates, LLC, et al.,
Defendants-Respondents.

- - - - -
384 East Associates, LLC, et al.,

Third-Party Plaintiffs,

-against-

All Borough Elevator, LLC,
Third-Party Defendant-Respondent.
_______________________

Law Offices of Michael S. Lamonsoff, PLLC, New York (Kyle Bruno
of counsel), for appellant.

Babchik & Young, LLP, White Plains (Matthew C. Mann of counsel),
for 384 East Associates, LLC and Proto Property Services, LLC,
respondents.

Gottlieb, Siegel & Schwartz, LLP, New York (Lauren M. Solari of
counsel), for All Borough Elevator, LLC, respondent.

_______________________

Order, Supreme Court, Bronx County (Fernando Tapia, J.),

entered on or about July 31, 2018, which granted defendants’

motions for summary judgment dismissing the complaint,

unanimously reversed, on the law, without costs, and the motions

denied.

Plaintiff was injured on August 3, 2015, when an elevator

door allegedly closed on his right thumb.  Plaintiff commenced

this action against defendants 384 East Associates, LLC (the
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property owner), Proto Property Services, LLC (the property

management company), and All Borough Elevator, LLC (the elevator

service company), for damages arising from his injury.  Triable

issues of fact regarding whether defendants had actual or

constructive notice of problems with the elevator door preclude

the granting of summary judgment.

The superintendent-in-training on the date of the accident

testified that he did not receive any complaints regarding

problems with the elevator door.  The field mechanic for All

Borough testified that he did not complete any repair work with

respect to the door opening and closing too quickly.  He did,

however, replace the elevator shoe which is a necessary component

for the elevator door to be able to close, although he could not

recall exactly when in 2015 he replaced that part.  The field

mechanic also testified that if a resident of the building had a

complaint regarding the elevator, the superintendent would

contact All Borough’s office.

Plaintiff, however, testified that prior to his accident he

had complained to the then superintendent, another building

maintenance employee, and the management company numerous times

regarding the velocity with which the elevator door closed. 

Plaintiff testified further that during one of his conversations

with the management company regarding the elevator door, he was
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told that management would send a service company out to address

the issue.  Additionally, plaintiff testified that approximately

two months before his accident, he witnessed a friend get hit in

the shoulder by the fast closing elevator door, and that

plaintiff and his mother reported this incident to the then

superintendent and the management company.

The parties also presented conflicting expert affidavits

regarding the potential causes of the alleged elevator door

malfunction, including the purpose of the elevator shoe, and the

relevance of the velocity with which the door closed as it

pertained to the cause of plaintiff’s injury, which only further

precludes a grant of summary judgment (Shatsky v Highpoint Assoc.

V, LLC, 170 AD3d 497, 497 [1st Dept 2019]; Barbuto v Club

Ventures Invs. LLC, 143 AD3d 606, 607 [1st Dept 2016]).

We decline to consider plaintiff’s res ipsa loquitur

arguments because they present factual issues that were not

submitted to the motion court (see Vanship Holdings Ltd. v Energy

Infrastructure Acquisition Corp., 65 AD3d 405, 408-409 [1st Dept

2009]).

Lastly, although the parties briefed the issue of whether

plaintiff is entitled to records relating to the 2018

modernization of the elevator, it was not dealt with by Supreme

Court in light of its decision granting summary judgment to
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defendants.  Therefore, this issue, should the parties choose to

pursue it, should be decided by the IAS court upon appropriate

motion or application.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 3, 2019

_______________________
CLERK
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Sweeny, J.P., Richter, Kapnick, Oing, Singh, JJ.

9453 Kenneth Thomas, Index 25415/15E
Plaintiff-Respondent,

-against-

Sere Housing Development
Fund Corporation, et. al.,

Defendants-Appellants.
_______________________

Milber Makris Plousadis & Seiden, LLP, White Plains (Michele D.
Newsome of counsel), for appellants.

Wingate, Russotti, Shapiro & Halperin, LLP, New York (David M.
Schwarz of counsel), for respondent.

_______________________

Order, Supreme Court, Bronx County (Donna Mills, J.),

entered on or about August 31, 2018, which denied defendants’

motion for summary judgment dismissing the complaint, unanimously

reversed, on the law, without costs, and the motion granted.  The

Clerk is directed to enter judgment accordingly.

Summary judgment should have been granted in this action

where plaintiff alleges that he was injured when he slipped and

fell on a wet substance on the interior stairs of defendants’

building.  Defendants’ superintendent offered testimony as to the

janitorial schedule to be followed on a particular day.  An

established reasonable cleaning routine precludes the imposition

of liability (see Harrison v New York City Tr. Auth., 94 AD3d

512, 514 [1st Dept 2012]).  Where, as here, the incident occurs
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outside of the scheduled cleaning routine, plaintiff’s failure to

raise a factual issue that such routine was manifestly

unreasonable so as to require altering it warrants dismissal of

the complaint (id.).

Furthermore, plaintiff testified that there was no wet

condition on the stairs when he left the building, that upon his

return a short while later he observed an alleged wet condition

on the stairs, that he did not notify anyone of such condition,

and that as a result of this condition he slipped and fell on the

stairs as he was leaving the building a second time.  Plaintiff’s

testimony demonstrates that defendants did not have actual notice

of the purported wet condition, or constructive notice given that

the condition did not exist for a sufficient length of time prior

to the accident to permit defendants’ employees to discover and

remedy it (see Gordon v American Museum of Natural History, 67

NY2d 836, 837-838 [1986]).

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 3, 2019

_______________________
CLERK
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Sweeny, J.P., Renwick, Manzanet-Daniels, Tom, Oing, JJ.

9487 The People of the State of New York, Ind. 4042/02
Respondent,

-against-

Steve Johnson,
Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

Christina A. Swarns, Office of the Appellate Defender, New York
(Katherine M.A. Pecore of counsel), for appellant. 

Cyrus R. Vance, Jr., District Attorney, New York (Rebecca Hausner 
of counsel), for respondent. 

_________________________

Judgment, Supreme Court, New York County (Daniel P.

FitzGerald, J.), rendered March 8, 2013, as amended March 12,

2013, convicting defendant, after a jury trial, of attempted

murder in the second degree as a hate crime, attempted murder in

the second degree, assault in the first degree as a hate crime,

three counts of assault in the first degree, 15 counts each of

kidnapping in the second degree as a hate crime and kidnapping in

the second degree, five counts of assault in the second degree as

a hate crime, and three counts each of criminal possession of a

weapon in the second and third degrees, and sentencing him, as a

second violent felony offender, to an aggregate term of 240

years, unanimously affirmed.

The evidentiary rulings challenged on appeal were provident

exercises of discretion that did not deprive defendant of a fair
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trial.  We reject defendant’s constitutional claims regarding

these rulings and related issues (see generally Crane v Kentucky,

476 US 683, 689-690 [1986]; Delaware v Van Arsdall, 475 US 673,

678-679 [1986]).

First, the court properly permitted cross-examination of a

defense expert witness about defendant’s ability to cooperate

with his attorneys.  This was directly relevant to refute a claim

about defendant’s alleged delusions that was at the core of his

insanity defense.  Defendant has not demonstrated that the only

way he could rebut this cross-examination was by completely

waiving the attorney-client privilege, or that there were any

privileged matters that would actually tend to have such rebuttal

effect.  In any event, the cross-examination was plainly

admissible under the circumstances of the case, and the alleged

disadvantage it placed defendant under with regard to explaining

or rebutting it did not entitle him to “disable the People from

relying on that part of the truth” (People v Yazum, 13 NY2d 302,

305 [1963]).

Next, we find that the People’s expert was properly

permitted to testify that persons asserting insanity defenses may

exaggerate their mental illnesses in order to avoid prison.  The

court’s jury instructions, including its charge under CPL

300.10(3), were sufficient to prevent either the expert testimony
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at issue, or a summation remark by the prosecutor that defendant

challenges in connection with this issue, from misleading the

jury about the consequences of an insanity acquittal. 

Finally, we find that the court imposed reasonable limits on

the cross-examination of the expert psychologists about details

of unrelated cases (see generally People v Corby, 6 NY3d 231,

233-234 [2005]).  The limited questioning of the experts about

other cases was not enough to open the door to extensive cross-

examination about the details, which would have posed the danger

of creating miniature trials of those cases.

Those portions of the People’s summation to which defendant

objected as mischaracterizing defense arguments or undermining

defendant’s right to go to trial were within the range of

permissible comment, and in any event were not so egregious as to

deprive defendant of a fair trial.  Defendant’s remaining

challenges to the summation are unpreserved, and we decline to

review them in the interest of justice.  As an alternative

holding, we find no basis for reversal (see People v Overlee, 236

AD2d 133 [1st Dept 1997], lv denied 91 NY2d 976 [1998]; People v

D’Alessandro, 184 AD2d 114, 118-120 [1st Dept 1992], lv denied 81

NY2d 884 [1993]).

Defendant’s argument that he was entitled to additional

instructions on the insanity defense going beyond the Criminal
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Jury Instructions is similar to an argument this Court rejected 

on defendant’s prior appeal in this case (74 AD3d 427, 428-429

[1st Dept 2010], revd on other grounds 17 NY3d 753 [2011]), and

we adhere to our prior determination.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 3, 2019

_______________________
CLERK

16



Sweeny, J.P., Renwick, Manzanet-Daniels, Tom, Oing, JJ.

9508N In re Global Liberty Insurance Index 27449/18E
Company of New York,

Petitioner-Appellant,

-against-

Top Q. Inc., As Assignee of 
Zurima Cole,

Respondent.
_______________________

Law Office of Jason Tenenbaum, P.C., Garden City (Jason Tenenbaum
of counsel), for appellant.

_______________________

Order, Supreme Court, Bronx County (Julia I. Rodriguez, J.),

entered August 31, 2018, which denied the petition to vacate a

master arbitrator’s award, unanimously reversed, on the law,

without costs, and the petition granted.

The master arbitrator’s award was arbitrary because it

irrationally ignored the controlling law that the no-fault policy

issued by petitioner was void ab initio due to respondent’s

assignor’s failure to attend duly scheduled independent medical

exams (see Hereford Ins. Co. v Lida’s Med. Supply, Inc., 161 AD3d

442, 443 [1st Dept 2018]; Matter of Global Liberty Ins. Co. v

Professional Chiropractic Care, P.C., 139 AD3d 645, 646 [1st Dept 
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2016]; American Tr. Ins. Co. v Lucas, 111 AD3d 423, 424 [1st Dept

2013]).

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 3, 2019

_______________________
CLERK
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Friedman, J.P., Tom, Kapnick, Kahn, JJ.

9563 Debra Crookendale, Index 154788/15
Plaintiff-Appellant,

-against-

New York City Health and Hospitals 
Corporation,

Defendant-Respondent.
_________________________

Schwartz Perry & Heller, LLP, New York (Brian Heller of counsel),
for appellant.

Zachary W. Carter, Corporation Counsel, New York (Jonathan A.
Popolow of counsel), for respondent. 

_________________________

Order, Supreme Court, New York County (Alexander M. Tisch,

J.), entered June 27, 2018, which, to the extent appealed from,

granted defendant’s motion for summary judgment dismissing part

of the gender discrimination claim as well as the constructive

discharge and retaliation claims under the New York City Human

Rights Law (City HRL), unanimously modified, on the law, to deny

the motion as to the gender discrimination claim, and otherwise

affirmed, without costs.

The motion court should not have dismissed the claim of

gender discrimination while sustaining the claim of hostile work

environment due to sexual harassment.  The City HRL does not

differentiate between sexual harassment and other forms of gender

discrimination, but requires that “sexual harassment” be viewed
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as “one species of sex- or gender-based discrimination” (Williams

v New York City Hous. Auth., 61 AD3d 62, 75 [1st Dept 2009], lv

denied 13 NY3d 702 [2009]).

In her affidavit in opposition to defendant’s motion,

plaintiff sufficiently described being touched and complimented

inappropriately to permit a jury reasonably to find that she was

treated “less well” than her male colleagues because of her

gender and that the conduct complained of was neither petty nor

trivial (see Hernandez v Kaisman, 103 AD3d 106, 114-115 [1st Dept

2012].

The constructive discharge claim was correctly dismissed, as

plaintiff failed to submit evidence that defendant “deliberately

created working conditions so intolerable, difficult or

unpleasant that a reasonable person would have felt compelled to

resign” (Short v Deutsche Bank Sec., Inc., 79 AD3d 503, 504 [1st

Dept 2010] [internal quotation marks omitted]).  Moreover, the

record shows that, unlike the employer in Dall v St. Catherine of

Siena Med. Ctr. (966 F Supp 2d 167, 177-178 [ED NY 2013]),

defendant had not made a decision to terminate plaintiff when she

voluntarily resigned.

Plaintiff also failed to raise an issue of fact as to

retaliation.  Her vague, informal complaints to her supervisor’s

superior and the Equal Employment Opportunity office did not
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convey that she was discriminated against unlawfully and

therefore do not constitute protected activity under the City HRL

(see Gonzalez v EVG, Inc., 123 AD3d 486, 487 [1st Dept 2014]). 

Moreover, there is no evidence that any of her superiors had any 

knowledge of her complaints or engaged in any retaliatory

conduct.

We have considered plaintiff’s remaining arguments and find

them unavailing.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 3, 2019

_______________________
CLERK
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SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT, 

David Friedman, J.P.
Dianne T. Renwick
Barbara R. Kapnick
Marcy L. Kahn
Jeffrey K. Oing, JJ.

 9279 & M-1060
Index 155738/16 

________________________________________x

Akasa Holdings, LLC,
Plaintiff-Appellant,

-against-

214 Lafayette House, LLC,
Defendant-Respondent.

________________________________________x

Plaintiff appeals from the order of the Supreme Court, New York 
County (Kathryn Freed, J.), entered March 14,
2018, which granted defendant’s motion for
summary judgment dismissing the complaint.

Slarskey LLC, New York (David Slarskey and
Evan Fried of counsel), for appellant.

Butler, Fitzgerald, Fiveson & McCarthy, P.C.,
New York (David K. Fiveson and Claudia G.
Jaffe of counsel), for respondent.



FRIEDMAN, J.P.

A bona fide purchaser of real property — one who purchases

land “in good faith and for a valuable consideration” (Real

Property Law § 291) — takes the property free and clear of any

prior conveyance, encumbrance or servitude of which the purchaser

did not have actual or constructive notice at the time of the

purchase (see e.g. Witter v Taggart, 78 NY2d 234, 239 [1991];

Dale A. Whitman, Ann M. Burkhart, R. Wilson Freyermuth & Troy A.

Rule, Property [hereinafter, Whitman] § 11.10, at 774 [4th ed

2019] [bona fide purchaser status “has two elements: paying value

and taking in good faith with no notice of the prior

conveyance”]).  The question presented by this appeal is whether

plaintiff, in purchasing a parcel of land in Manhattan, had

constructive notice that the property (57 Crosby Street, a vacant

lot) was burdened by a prior express easement that had been

granted for the benefit of the parcel (214 Lafayette Street)

diagonally to its rear.  This question arises because, although

the easement had been properly recorded and indexed upon its

creation in 1981, the process of finding it through a title

search at the time of plaintiff’s purchase in 2011 was

complicated by a change that had been made in 1984 to 57 Crosby’s
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lot number on the Tax Map of the City of New York.1

In brief, at the beginning of the 1970s, 57 Crosby was

designated as Lot 9 of Block 482.  At some point after February

2, 1972, 57 Crosby was merged into Lot 30 of Block 482, along

with a parcel next door to it and the aforementioned 214

Lafayette.2  As noted, the easement was created in 1981, while 57

1In New York City, a conveyance of an interest in real
property, when recorded in the Office of the City Register, is
indexed against the numerical block and lot designations of the
affected parcels on the Tax Map maintained by the Department of
Finance (see Administrative Code of City of NY § 7-625).  The
Court of Appeals has noted that the tract-based block-and-lot
method of indexing recorded conveyances is intended to allow “the
title searcher readily to find all conveyances within a given
time frame which affect a particular parcel of land” without
using “the more tedious and cumbersome method of tracing a chain
of title through successive grantors and assignors” (Andy Assoc.
v Banker’s Trust Co., 49 NY2d 13, 24 [1979]; see also John G.
Sprankling, Understanding Property Law at 426-431 [4th ed 2017]
[comparing title searching using a grantor-grantee index with
title searching using a tract index]; Bernard M. Rifkin & S.H.
Spencer Compton, “Search and Examination of Title,” §§ 2.1-2.3,
in 1 James M. Pedowitz (ed.), Real Estate Titles [3d ed 2007]
[same]; Whitman § 11.11, at 786-788 [same]; 9 Warren’s Weed, New
York Real Property [hereinafter, Warren’s Weed] § 95.32[2] [5th
ed 2019] [same]).

2While the record does not disclose precisely when Lot 9 was
merged into Lot 30, the record does include printouts from New
York City’s online title registration database (the Automated
City Register Information System [ACRIS]) indicating that no
recorded documents were indexed against Lot 9 between February 2,
1972 (the date of the recording of a release) and May 21, 1999
(the date of the recording of the deed to plaintiff’s immediate
predecessor-in-interest).  After plaintiff purchased 57 Crosby,
documents pertaining to 57 Crosby that were recorded while the
parcel was part of Lot 30 have been reindexed against Lot 9, but
such reindexing has no bearing on this appeal.
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Crosby (the servient parcel) and 214 Lafayette (the dominant

parcel) were both parts of Lot 30.  About three years later, in

1984, Lot 30 was subdivided into three separate lots and 57

Crosby was redesignated as Lot 9, the same designation that had

been used for it up until the merger into Lot 30.  No document

memorializing the subdivision of Lot 30 was indexed against Lot

9, nor was the easement reindexed against Lot 9 at the time of

the subdivision.  Accordingly, it is undisputed that, in 2011, a

40-year title search on ACRIS of 57 Crosby, under its designation

as Lot 9, would have yielded (1) instruments recorded up until

the parcel’s merger into Lot 30 in the 1970s and (2) instruments

recorded after the 1984 subdivision and redesignation of the

parcel as Lot 9, but (3) no instruments (such as the declaration

of the subject easement) that were recorded during the

intervening period, when the parcel was part of Lot 30.

The question that emerges from the foregoing is whether, in

2011 (the year of plaintiff’s purchase), a reasonably prudent

prospective purchaser would have realized, after completing a

search limited to documents indexed against Lot 9, that the

results of that search did not provide a full picture of 57

Crosby’s title status.  The record establishes, as a matter of

law, that the need for additional inquiry, not limited to

instruments indexed against Lot 9, would have been obvious, given
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that (as more fully described below) a search limited to Lot 9 at

that time would have shown an apparent gap in 57 Crosby’s chain

of title.  Further, had elementary steps then been taken to

extend the search beyond Lot 9, the subject easement readily

would have come to light.  Accordingly, we hold that plaintiff

acquired 57 Crosby with constructive notice of the easement and

lacks standing as a bona fide purchaser to void it.

Factual Background

We now turn to a more detailed account of this appeal’s

factual background.  The setting of the dispute is a contiguous

block of four rectangular properties, each about 100 feet long by

25 feet wide, between Crosby Street (to the west) and Lafayette

Street (to the east) in Soho.  Two of the properties front on

Crosby Street (55 Crosby and 57 Crosby) and the other two front

on Lafayette Street (214 Lafayette and 216 Lafayette).  At this

location (between Spring Street to the north and Broome Street to

the south), Crosby and Lafayette are roughly parallel, north-

south streets, with the street numbers ascending south to north. 

Thus, 57 Crosby is next door to, and directly to the north of, 55

Crosby; 216 Lafayette is next door to, and directly to the north

of, 214 Lafayette; 57 Crosby and 216 Lafayette adjoin each other

at the rear; and 55 Crosby and 214 Lafayette adjoin each other at

the rear.  The two parcels affected by the easement at issue — 57
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Crosby (now owned by plaintiff) and 214 Lafayette (now owned by

defendant) — are situated diagonally, or “catty corner” (the

colloquial description used by one email in the record), to each

other, 57 Crosby to the northwest and 214 Lafayette to the

southeast.3

The 1970s: 57 Crosby, Previously Designated
As Lot 9, is Merged into Lot 30

As of July 1971, all four of the properties described above

— 55 Crosby, 57 Crosby, 216 Lafayette, and 214 Lafayette — were

owned by Aaron and Rosalyn (or Roslyn) Epstein, a married couple. 

The Epsteins had purchased 216 Lafayette (which at all relevant

times has been designated Lot 28) in 1967.4  In July 1971, the

Epsteins’ purchase from Consolidated Edison (Con Ed) of the

remaining three parcels was recorded.  At that time, 55 Crosby

and 214 Lafayette (which, to reiterate, adjoin each other back to

back) were designated as Lot 30, and 57 Crosby was designated as

Lot 9.

The record contains an ACRIS printout of the results of a

3Although, as previously noted, 57 Crosby is a vacant lot,
the other three parcels have been occupied by buildings at all
relevant times.

4Because the block on which all relevant parcels are
situated has been designated as Block 482 at all relevant times,
the remainder of this opinion will generally omit references to
the block number.
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search of documents indexed to Lot 9 (57 Crosby) indicating that,

after the 1971 deed to the Epsteins, three additional instruments

were indexed against Lot 9 in 1971 and 1972, the last of which

was a release recorded on February 2, 1972.  It is undisputed

that, at some unknown point between February 1972 and August

1979, 57 Crosby was merged into Lot 30 (which already included 55

Crosby and 214 Lafayette).  At that point, the Lot 9 designation

fell into disuse.

1979: 57 Crosby is Conveyed to a
New Owner While Part of Lot 30

By deed dated July 12, 1979, the Epsteins conveyed all four

contiguous properties (55 Crosby, 57 Crosby, 216 Lafayette and

214 Lafayette) to an entity known as Spacemakers Two.  When that

deed was recorded on August 7, 1979, it was indexed against Lot

28 (216 Lafayette) and Lot 30 (55 Crosby, 57 Crosby and 214

Lafayette).  The 1979 deed was not indexed against Lot 9 because

that designation was not in use for any parcel on Block 482 at

that time.

1981: The Subject Easement is Created,
While 57 Crosby (the Servient Estate)
and 214 Lafayette (the Dominant Estate)
Are Both Parts of Lot 30

By deed dated July 1, 1981, Spacemakers Two, while retaining

ownership of the other three parcels, conveyed 214 Lafayette

(noted on the deed to be part of Lot 30) to an entity known as

7



Artsbar Associates (Artsbar).  By a declaration of the same date,

Spacemakers Two, as owner of 216 Lafayette and 57 Crosby, granted

Artsbar, as the new owner of 214 Lafayette, certain easements

against 216 Lafayette and 57 Crosby.  As against 216 Lafayette,

214 Lafayette was granted (1) an easement restricting the height

of any building at 216 Lafayette to the height of the existing

two-story building and (2) an easement “for emergency egress by

foot over the roof” of the building at 216 Lafayette.  As against

57 Crosby, 214 Lafayette was granted “a non-exclusive easement

for ingress and egress by foot over a strip of land six feet wide

contiguous to and north of the southerly border of . . . 57

Crosby Street,” as shown on certain exhibits attached to the

declarations (emphasis added).5  This easement against 57 Crosby

(hereinafter, the 1981 easement) is at issue in this action.  The

1981 easement provides that it runs with the land and will be

binding “for so long as the present building on [214 Lafayette]

remains standing.”6

The deed conveying 214 Lafayette to Artsbar and the 1981

5Although not mentioned in the declaration of easement or
shown on the diagram attached to the declaration, the record
shows that a metal ladder descends from the southwest corner of
the roof of the two-story building at 216 Lafayette to the
southeast corner of the vacant lot at 57 Crosby.

6It is undisputed that the building that occupied 214
Lafayette in 1981 remains standing today.
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easement were both recorded on July 10, 1981.  Because 57 Crosby

and 214 Lafayette were both parts of Lot 30 in 1981, the 1981

easement was indexed against Lot 30 when the instrument was

recorded.  Again, in 1981, the designation “Lot 9” was not in use

for any parcel on Block 482.

1983: 57 Crosby is Again Conveyed to
a New Owner While Part of Lot 30

Less than two years after the creation of the 1981 easement,

57 Crosby (the servient estate) was sold to a new owner.  By deed

dated March 1, 1983, and recorded May 2, 1983, Spacemakers Two

conveyed 57 Crosby to an entity known as Parking Lot Partnership. 

When the deed to Parking Lot Partnership was recorded, it was

indexed against Lot 30, of which 57 Crosby was a part in 1983. 

The deed of 57 Crosby to Parking Lot Partnership does not make

note of the 1981 easement.

Shortly after Parking Lot Partnership took title to 57

Crosby, Spacemakers Two sold 55 Crosby to 55 Crosby Associates,

Inc. (55 Associates), a cooperative corporation.  Thus, as of

mid-1983, a different owner held title to each of the three

parcels then encompassed by Lot 30: Parking Lot Partnership owned

57 Crosby; Artsbar owned 214 Lafayette; and 55 Associates owned

55 Crosby.

1984: 57 Crosby is Subdivided from
Lot 30 and Redesignated as Lot 9

9



In May 1984, the three owners of the three parcels

encompassed by Lot 30 jointly filed an application to have Lot 30

subdivided into three separate lots.  The owners proposed that,

after the subdivision, 214 Lafayette retain the designation of

Lot 30; 55 Crosby be designated Lot 8; and 57 Crosby be

redesignated Lot 9 — the same lot number that had been assigned

to 57 Crosby before its merger into Lot 30 during the previous

decade.  The subdivision was effected as proposed by the owners. 

Apparently by inadvertence, the documentation of the subdivision,

upon being recorded, was indexed only against Lot 30 (now 214

Lafayette alone) but not against Lot 8 (55 Crosby) and — more

significantly here — not against the revived Lot 9 (57 Crosby).

1999: 57 Crosby, as Lot 9, is Conveyed to
Plaintiff’s Immediate Predecessor in Interest

Parking Lot Partnership owned 57 Crosby from 1983 until

1999.  By deed dated April 28, 1999, and recorded May 24, 1999,

Parking Lot Partnership conveyed 57 Crosby to Walter Chatham,

plaintiff’s immediate predecessor in interest.  The deed of 57

Crosby to Chatham, which was indexed against Lot 9, does not make

note of the 1981 easement.

At about the same time as he took title to 57 Crosby,

Chatham granted the owner of 216 Lafayette — the parcel abutting

57 Crosby at the rear (i.e., to the east) — an easement “for
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ingress and egress by foot” over strips of land alongside 57

Crosby’s northern and eastern borders (respectively, 6 feet wide

and 12 feet wide).7  The easement granted to 216 Lafayette

(hereinafter, the 1999 easement) was also indexed against Lot 9

upon being recorded.

2011: 57 Crosby, as Lot 9, is Conveyed to Plaintiff

By deed dated March 31, 2011, and recorded April 11, 2011,

Chatham conveyed 57 Crosby to plaintiff Akasa Holdings, LLC.  The

deed to plaintiff, like the deed to Chatham, was indexed against

Lot 9.  Like the respective deeds to plaintiff’s predecessors in

interest (Parking Lot Partnership and Chatham), the deed of 57

Crosby to plaintiff does not make note of the 1981 easement.

Plaintiff purchased a title insurance policy to cover its

purchase of 57 Crosby.  The policy contains exclusions for, among

other things, matters set forth in an attached survey reading of

the parcel and the 1999 easement in favor of 216 Lafayette (which

easement, to reiterate, had been indexed against Lot 9).  The

policy makes no reference to the 1981 easement (the one at issue

here), which was not found in the title search conducted on

7By contrast, the 1981 easement — the easement that is the
subject of this action — granted 214 Lafayette (directly to the
south of 216 Lafayette, and diagonally to the rear of 57 Crosby)
a right of ingress and egress by foot over a six-foot-wide strip
of land alongside 57 Crosby’s southern border.
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behalf of the insurer.

At about the same time plaintiff purchased the vacant lot at

57 Crosby, it also purchased the residential cooperative

apartment occupying the first two floors of the adjoining

building at 55 Crosby.  It appears from the record that, at some

point before plaintiff’s purchase, structures used for side

access to the 55 Crosby building (two staircase platforms and an

elevator lift) were built on the southern edge of the 57 Crosby

lot, in the path of the 1981 easement.

2014: Defendant Indexes the 1981 Easement Against
Lot 9, and the Instant Dispute Begins

Defendant 214 Lafayette House LLC took title to 214

Lafayette in 2012.8  In August 2014, the Office of the City

Register, at defendant’s instance, indexed the 1981 easement

against Lot 9 (57 Crosby) and Lot 28 (216 Lafayette), with the

following notation, dated August 20, 2014:

“BLOCK AND LOT CORRECTION TO ADD LOTS 28 & 9 WHICH WERE
INADVERTENTLY OMITTED AT THE TIME OF RECORDING.”

In October 2014, defendant’s attorney sent plaintiff’s

attorney an email, explaining that the 1981 easement, when

originally recorded, had been “only indexed on the records of the

8Since defendant’s title to 214 Lafayette is not in dispute
(apart from the dispute over the validity of the 1981 easement),
we omit a recitation of the chain of title to 214 Lafayette from
Artsbar (the grantee of the 1981 easement) to defendant.
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214 Lafayette Street parcel, although it affected the 216

Lafayette Street and 57 Crosby Street parcels.”  The email

requested that plaintiff, as owner of 57 Crosby, sign a new

declaration “acknowledg[ing], ratify[ing] and reconfirm[ing] all

of the terms, covenants and conditions” of the 1981 easement. 

Plaintiff declined to sign the new declaration.

Prior Proceedings in This Action

In July 2016, plaintiff commenced this action to quiet title

under article 15 of the RPAPL.  In summary, the complaint alleges

that plaintiff “purchased [57 Crosby] for value without any

notice of the [1981 easement], which was absent from its chain of

title until the recent recording on August 20, 2014.”  Based on

this contention, the complaint seeks, as relevant to this appeal,

a judgment declaring that plaintiff holds title to 57 Crosby

“free from any easement or other interest of [d]efendant,” and an

injunction “permanently restraining and enjoining [d]efendant . .

. from utilizing the [1981 easement].”9  In its answer to the

complaint, defendant asserts the following affirmative defense:

“Plaintiff was on actual and constructive notice of defendant’s

prior easement, [and] is therefore not a bona fide purchaser for

9On this appeal from the dismissal of the complaint,
plaintiff has not made any argument concerning its causes of
action for trespass and unjust enrichment.  Those claims are
therefore deemed to have been abandoned.
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value and any [of its] rights in 57 Crosby are subject to

defendant’s easement.”

In July 2017, defendant moved for summary judgment

dismissing the complaint.  Based on printouts of ACRIS title

searches and the recorded instruments referenced above, defendant

argued that plaintiff purchased 57 Crosby with notice of the 1981

easement because the easement had been properly recorded and,

upon being recorded, had been properly indexed against Lot 30,

which, in 1981, encompassed both 57 Crosby and 214 Lafayette.  In

this regard, defendant took the position that the 1981 easement

was in plaintiff’s direct chain of title to 57 Crosby because the

easement was granted by Spacemakers Two, the common predecessor

in interest of both plaintiff as owner of the servient estate (57

Crosby) and defendant as owner of the dominant estate (214

Lafayette).  Defendant also argued that plaintiff was placed on

inquiry notice of the 1981 easement by the 1999 easement, an

encumbrance on 57 Crosby of which plaintiff, by its own

admission, had been aware when it purchased the lot.10

10The declaration of the 1999 easement includes a schematic
diagram with a reference to a six-foot-wide “EASEMENT” for
“EMERGENCY EGRESS ONLY” on the southern edge of the roof of the
building at 216 Lafayette, alongside the building at 214
Lafayette.  In the motion court, defendant took the position
(which it maintains on this appeal) that the reference in the
1999 easement to a preexisting easement over 216 Lafayette’s
roof, running alongside 214 Lafayette, combined with the known

14



In opposition to the motion, plaintiff submitted the

affidavit of David J. Carroll, the president of S.J. Carroll Jr.

Inc., which, according to Carroll, is “a company engaged in

property and title searches.”  Carroll opined, based on his

“knowledge and experience founded upon my decades working in the

title industry,” that, “[a]s of March 31, 2011 (when [p]laintiff

acquired Lot 9 [57 Crosby]), a title search of Lot 9 by an

examiner employing industry standards would not have reflected

that the [1981 easement] had been recorded against Lot 9.” 

Carroll attributed this to the reuse, upon the subdivision of Lot

30 in 1984, of the same lot number (Lot 9) to designate 57 Crosby

that had been used to designate the parcel before its merger into

Lot 30 during the previous decade.  Carroll elaborated as follows

(paragraph numbers omitted):

“The reuse of a previously used lot number after
subdivision, like the reuse of Lot 9 herein after the
subdivision of the Original Lot 30, is a practice that
is not appropriate, is avoided and is exceedingly rare
for the very reason explained below.  Title examiners
conduct searches of the title history of properties in
the City of New York using the . . . ACRIS database. 
We do so by searching properties based on the section,

presence of the metal ladder at the southwest corner of 216
Lafayette, should have alerted plaintiff to the likelihood that
214 Lafayette had an easement for emergency egress to the street
over the vacant lot at 57 Crosby.  Defendant also argued to the
motion court that 214 Lafayette was an intended beneficiary of
the 1999 easement, but that argument has been omitted from
defendant’s appellate brief.
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block and lot numbers of the properties.

“According to commonly accepted standards of the
title search industry, a proper title search should
date back for a period of 40 years.  A search of ACRIS
that is conducted by section, block and lot simply
pulls up the history of tax lots in isolation and
without information as to what may have been recorded
against any other lot from which it derived.  Thus, a
search of Lot 9 only pulls up encumbrances actually
indexed against or recorded against Lot 9, and a search
of Lot 30 only pulls up encumbrances of Lot 30.

“The problem with reusing the same numbers for tax
lot designations is highlighted by the record of this
matter.  For example, since Lot 9 (i.e. 57 Crosby
Street) was the designation used for many years prior
to [the parcel] becoming merged into the Original Lot
30 in 1971[11], and then was the same designation after
the subdivision in 1984 when the Lot 9 designation was
again reused as the tax lot designation, there would
have been no indication to any examiner searching Lot 9
in 2011 (when [p]laintiff acquired Lot 9) that the
[1981 easement] was recorded against Lot 9 (which it
was not) based on a prior recording against the
Original Lot 30 in 1981 prior to the subdivision.

“That is because Lot 9 had been used and reused as
the designation for 57 Crosby (both before and after it
was part of the Original Lot 30), and thus a search of
Lot 9 in 2011 would have satisfied industry standards
by allowing for a look back of more than 40 years, with
no indication during that time of any recording of the

11In fact, as previously noted, it appears from the record
that the Lot 9 designation continued to be used for 57 Crosby
until 1972.  However, it is not material to the outcome of this
appeal whether 57 Crosby was merged into Lot 30 in 1971, in 1972,
or at some later time before the 1979 post-merger conveyance of
Lot 30.  The important point, which is undisputed, is that the
merger occurred at some point (1) after the 1971 conveyance of 57
Crosby, as a stand-alone Lot 9, from Con Ed to the Epsteins and
(2) before the 1979 conveyance of 57 Crosby, as part of the
enlarged Lot 30, from the Epsteins to Spacemakers Two.
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[1981 easement] against Lot 9.  The recording of the
[1981 easement] . . . against Lot 30 would not have
been revealed based on a proper title search of a 40
year history of Lot 9 using ACRIS.

“. . . [F]or good reason, the City of New York
does not normally reuse tax lot designations when
subdivisions occur.  Rather, an entirely new tax lot
designation is, and should at all times be, used, such
that a search by an examiner of a newly designated lot
would (based on industry standards of 40 years)
necessarily involve a search of the parcel from which
that newly designated lot derived (this parcel is
called the ‘parent’ parcel).  That is, if for example,
a subdivision of a lot designated as Lot 1 occurs in
2010, and produces new lots designated as Lots 2 and 3,
a search of Lot 3 in 2017 would only reveal an
existence of 7 years.  In that case, the examiner would
be required if following industry standards to search
back more years and thus would turn up the ‘parent’ lot
(i.e., Lot 1) and any encumbrances against that lot
within 40 years.

“However, in a situation where, as here, the same
lot number was reused, a search by an examiner of the
ACRIS database would show a long-term independent
existence and use of the tax lot number, and would not
require searching any other parcel from which that lot
may have derived” (emphasis added).

Carroll observed that the printout of the result of a post-

2014 ACRIS title search of Lot 9, which defendant had submitted

in support of its motion, confirmed that the 1981 easement had

not been indexed against Lot 9 until 2014.  While the declaration

creating the 1981 easement appears on that printout, the

reference to that document is accompanied by the aforementioned

notation entered by the Office of the City Register, to the

effect that a “CORRECTION” was made on August 20, 2014, “TO ADD
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LOTS 28 & 9 WHICH WERE INADVERTENTLY OMITTED AT THE TIME OF

RECORDING.”

In reply, defendant submitted the affidavit of Christopher

M. Beck, the director of operations at Ridge Abstract Corp. 

According to Beck, Ridge Abstract is a licensed title insurance

agent authorized to issue title insurance policies and

certificates of title under Insurance Law §§ 2101-2102 and CPLR

4523.  Beck identified himself as a sublicensee under Ridge

Abstract’s title insurance license.12

Beck agreed with Carroll that the industry standard dictates

that a title search should extend 40 years into the past. 

Further, Beck did not take issue with Carroll’s view that, upon

the subdivision of Lot 30 in 1984, the previously used

designation of Lot 9 should not have been reassigned to 57

Crosby.  Nor did Beck disagree with Carroll that, in 2011, a 40-

12Based on the results of an online search of the database
of the New York State Department of Finance, Beck asserted that,
unlike Ridge Abstract and himself, “neither [the aforementioned]
David J. Carroll nor S.J. Carroll Jr. [Carroll’s firm] has ever
been licensed as a Title Insurance Agent in New York State.”  We
find it unnecessary to determine whether Carroll is qualified to
offer an expert opinion in this matter, since it appears, as more
fully discussed below, that Carroll and Beck substantially agree
on the results that would have been yielded by a 40-year title
search in 2011 (the year plaintiff purchased 57 Crosby) that was
limited to records indexed against Block 482, Lot 9.  Whether the
results of such a search would have indicated to a reasonably
prudent person that further inquiry was required is, on this
record, a pure question of law.
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year title search limited to records indexed against Lot 9 would

not have turned up the 1981 easement, which was then indexed only

against Lot 30.  Beck parted ways with Carroll, however, on the

question of whether the results of a search limited to Lot 9 in

2011 would have indicated to a prudent person that the search

needed to be extended beyond Lot 9 to obtain a complete picture

of 57 Crosby’s title status within a 40-year time frame.

According to Beck, “[T]o establish [that] good title existed

in Walter Chatham, the party from whom [plaintiff] was

considering purchasing 57 Crosby Street in March 2011, the title

examiner/title reader would have had to examine ACRIS records for

Block 482, Lot 30.”  This is because, in March 2011, a person

conducting a 40-year search of records indexed to Block 482, Lot

9 (then 57 Crosby’s designation) would have found an apparent gap

in the chain of title leading to Chatham.  Specifically, an

examination of the records indexed to Lot 9 in March 2011 would

have revealed only two deeds conveying title to 57 Crosby within

the previous 40 years: (1) the 1999 deed by which Parking Lot

Partnership conveyed the parcel to Chatham; and (2) the 1971 deed

by which Con Ed conveyed the parcel (along with 55 Crosby and 214

Lafayette) to the Epsteins.  As stated by Beck, “As of March

2011, ACRIS records for Lot 9 would not have shown how title came

to be vested in Parking Lot Partnership [Chatham’s grantor],

19



i.e., who conveyed 57 Crosby Street to that entity and when.”

Beck further explained that, to discover how Parking Lot

Partnership obtained title to 57 Crosby, an examiner in March

2011

“would have had to conduct an ACRIS search for Parking
Lot Partnership’s vesting deed by conducting a grantee
search under Parking Lot Partnership’s name.  That
search would have discovered [that] Parking Lot
Partnership obtained title . . . from Spacemakers Two
pursuant to a deed dated March 1, 1983, which was
recorded May 2, 1983 against Block 482, Lot 30”
(emphasis added).13

At that point, Beck explained, the examiner should have (1)

conducted a search of records indexed against Lot 30 going back

to March 1971, (2) conducted a grantee search under the name of

Spacemakers Two, and (3) conducted a search back up the chain of

title from March 1971 to March 2011 to identify “any grants or

conveyances made by those former owners” of 57 Crosby.  Such

inquiries would have revealed the 1979 deed from the Epsteins to

Spacemakers Two.  The discovery of the 1979 deed would have

completed the chain of title to 57 Crosby from the Epsteins

(grantees of Con Ed in 1971) to Spacemakers Two (grantee of the

Epsteins in 1979) to Parking Lot Partnership (grantee of

13The 1983 deed from Spacemakers Two to Parking Lot
Partnership identifies the parcel being conveyed as 57 Crosby and
contains a reference to “Block 482, P/O 30” — meaning that the
parcel was part of Lot 30 at the time of the 1983 conveyance.
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Spacemakers Two in 1983) to Chatham (grantee of Parking Lot

Partnership in 1999), thereby eliminating the gap between the

Epsteins and Parking Lot Partnership that would have appeared

from an initial search limited to records indexed against Lot 9. 

Expanding the search in this manner also would have uncovered the

1981 easement granted by Spacemakers Two, the declaration of

which had been recorded against Lot 30 when that lot number

encompassed both 57 Crosby (the servient estate) and 214

Lafayette (the dominant estate).

Beck summarized his conclusions as follows:

“[A]n examination of the ACRIS records for Block
482, Lot 9, as of March 2011, would have revealed two
breaks in the chain of title.  Because of those breaks,
the title examiner/title reader could not confirm
[that] Mr. Chatham had good title solely by searching
Block 482, Lot 9.  A title examiner would have had to
conduct a search by grantor/grantee’s name to identify
all conveyances leading to Mr. Chatham’s acquisition of
title.  Thus, it would have been insufficient for a
title examiner/title reader examining ACRIS records to
look only at Block 482, Lot 9.  The missing conveyance
or conveyances would be found outside of the ACRIS
records for Lot 9.”14

The Decision Appealed From

Supreme Court granted defendant’s motion for summary

judgment dismissing the complaint.  In the court’s view, although

14Beck also endorsed defendant’s argument that information
contained in an attachment to the declaration of the 1999
easement (of which plaintiff was aware when it purchased 57
Crosby) provided constructive notice of the 1981 easement.
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the 1981 easement had been properly recorded and indexed upon its

creation, a ministerial error was subsequently committed when the

City Register “fail[ed] to include the Declaration [of the 1981

easement] in the Register’s records for the newly created Lot 9

at the time of the subdivision [of Lot 30] in 1984.”  The court

then framed the issue presented as whether “an instrument that is

duly recorded and properly entered on the Register’s records

against the appropriate block and lot, at the time of recording,

can be defeated by a ministerial error committed years later in

the maintenance and updating of the Register’s records.”  In

answering this question, the court relied on a distinction drawn

in the case of Baccari v De Santi (70 AD2d 198 [2d Dept 1979])

between clerical errors of misfeasance (such as indexing an

instrument incorrectly) and clerical errors of nonfeasance (such

as entirely failing to record or index an instrument).  Based on

its understanding that, under Baccari, only errors of misfeasance

void the effect of the recording of an instrument, the court held

that “[t]he nonfeasance of the Register, in failing to properly

include the Declaration [of the 1981 easement] on its records in

connection with the new Lot 9 at the time of the subdivision [of

Lot 30 in 1984], constitutes a ministerial error that did not

void the 1981 recording.”  Plaintiff now appeals from this

determination.
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Discussion

Like the motion court, we conclude that plaintiff purchased

57 Crosby with constructive notice of the 1981 easement and,

therefore, lacks standing as a bona fide purchaser to void that

encumbrance.15  We reach this conclusion, however, based on

reasoning somewhat different from that of the motion court, as

more fully discussed below.  Also, because the complaint seeks a

declaratory judgment, rather than simply affirm the order

appealed from, we modify that order to render a declaration in

defendant’s favor (see Lanza v Wagner, 11 NY2d 317, 334 [1962],

cert denied 371 US 901 [1962]).

We begin by observing that defendant, in support of its

summary judgment motion, established, prima facie, that, as owner

of 214 Lafayette, it holds title to the 1981 easement. 

15We note that, in this action, plaintiff has not raised any
argument that the 1981 easement, even if it otherwise would be
valid, has been extinguished by adverse possession by reason of
the physical structures that have been built in its path,
alongside the 55 Crosby building, as previously discussed.  We
are advised that such an adverse possession claim has been raised
in a different action between the same parties that was commenced
after the order appealed from was rendered (214 Lafayette House
LLC v Akasa Holdings, LLC, Sup Ct, NY County, Index No.
153415/2018 [the 2018 action]).  This decision expresses no
opinion on the merits of the adverse possession claim asserted in
the 2018 action or on whether the determination of this action in
defendant’s favor has any effect on plaintiff’s ability to assert
the adverse possession claim in the 2018 action or in any other
proceeding.
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Specifically, defendant made out a prima facie case that the 1981

easement, as set forth in the declaration creating it, is an

easement appurtenant to its parcel at 214 Lafayette.

“An easement appurtenant occurs when the easement (1)
is conveyed in writing, (2) is subscribed by the
creator, and (3) burdens the servient estate for the
benefit of the dominant estate.  The easement passes to
subsequent owners of the dominant estate through
appurtenance clauses, even if it is not specifically
mentioned in the deed.  Once created, the easement runs
with the land and can only be extinguished by
abandonment, conveyance, condemnation, or adverse
possession” (Djoganopoulos v Polkes, 95 AD3d 933, 935
[2d Dept 2012] [citations omitted]; see also Will v
Gates, 89 NY2d 778, 783 [1997] [an easement appurtenant
“is inseparable from the land and a grant of the land
carries with it the grant of the easement”]).16

Defendant also established — and plaintiff has not disputed

— that the 1981 easement was properly recorded and indexed

against Lot 30 — which then encompassed both the servient estate

(57 Crosby) and the dominant estate (214 Lafayette) — upon its

creation in 1981.  The question presented, therefore, is whether

plaintiff, when it purchased 57 Crosby in 2011, had constructive

notice of the 1981 easement, notwithstanding that the indexing of

the easement had not been changed by the City Register when 57

Crosby was subdivided from Lot 30 in 1984 and reassigned its

previous designation of Lot 9.

16We note that defendant has made no claim that, as owner of
214 Lafayette, it is entitled to an easement over 55 Crosby by
necessity, implication, or prescription.
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At this point, it should be noted that the answer to the

foregoing question does not turn on whether the 1981 easement

would have been found in a search in 2011 of the direct chain of

title to 57 Crosby.  Almost 40 years ago, the Court of Appeals

held that “the rule limiting constructive notice to recorded

conveyances that are within the purchaser’s direct chain of

title” does not apply “to instances in which the purchaser had

access to a ‘block and lot’ or tract indexing system,” such as

the one in use in New York City (Andy Associates, 49 NY2d at

24).17  Pursuant to the holding of Andy Associates, “[I]n

counties using a ‘block and lot’ indexing system, a purchaser is

charged with record notice of all matters indexed under the block

and lot numbers corresponding to the purchaser’s property,

regardless of whether such information also appears in his or her

17The Court of Appeals explained its holding in Andy
Associates as follows: “This [block and lot] indexing method . .
. enables the title searcher readily to find all conveyances
within a given time frame which affect a particular parcel. . . .
Thus, it appears that where the ‘block and lot’ indexing method
is used, there is no logical reason to afford potential
purchasers additional protection by applying the time-honored
rule that a purchaser is not chargeable with constructive notice
of conveyances recorded outside of his direct chain of title. 
That rule, which was developed in cases where the purchaser had
to rely upon the grantor-grantee system of indexing, simply
represented a pragmatic judicial response to the exigencies of
conducting a title search under such a system.  Its application
in a case such as this, where the ‘block and lot’ indexing system
was available would seem, at the very least, a somewhat
anachronistic result” (49 NY2d at 23-24 [citations omitted]).
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direct chain of title” (Farrell v Sitaras, 22 AD3d 518, 520 [2d

Dept 2005]).  Thus, although (contrary to defendant’s assertions)

the 1981 easement was not recorded within plaintiff’s direct

chain of title, that circumstance has no bearing on the outcome

of this appeal.18

The principle that is determinative of the resolution of

this appeal is a familiar one:

“The intended purchaser [of real property] must be
presumed to have investigated the title, and to have
examined every deed or instrument properly recorded,
and to have known every fact disclosed or to which an
inquiry suggested by the record would have led.  If the
purchaser fails to use due diligence in examining the
title, he or she is chargeable, as a matter of law,
with notice of the facts which a proper inquiry would
have disclosed” (Fairmont Funding v Stefansky, 301 AD2d
562, 564 [2d Dept 2003] [emphasis added, citations
omitted]; see also Astoria Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn. v

18The 1981 easement is not recorded in plaintiff’s direct
chain of title because the easement is not referenced in the deed
conveying 57 Crosby to plaintiff or in either of the two deeds
conveying the parcel to plaintiff’s direct predecessors in title
(in reverse chronological order, Walter Chatham [1999] and
Parking Lot Partnership [1983]) who acquired the lot since the
easement was created (see Witter, 78 NY2d at 238 [in a case
concerning land in a county using a grantor-grantee indexing
system, reaffirming the rule that “an owner of land is only bound
by restrictions if they appear in some deed of record in the
conveyance to that owner or that owner’s direct predecessors in
title”] [emphasis added, internal quotation marks and brackets
omitted]).  An encumbrance is not deemed to be in a purchaser’s
direct chain of title merely because it is “included in a deed to
another lot conveyed by the same grantor” (id. at 239).  Stated
otherwise, “[A] deed conveyed by a common grantor to a dominant
landowner does not form part of the chain of title to the
servient land retained by the common grantor” (id.).
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June, 190 AD2d 644, 645 [2d Dept 1993] [same]).

More than 120 years ago, the Court of Appeals expressed the

same idea in the following words:

“If the facts within the knowledge of the purchaser are
of such a nature, as, in reason, to put him upon
inquiry, and to excite the suspicion of an ordinarily
prudent person and he fails to make some investigation,
he will be chargeable with that knowledge which a
reasonable inquiry, as suggested by the facts, would
have revealed” (Anderson v Blood, 152 NY 285, 293
[1897]).

This principle has been recognized in numerous decisions over the

years (see e.g. 2386 Creston Ave. Realty, LLC v M-P-M Mgt. Corp.,

58 AD3d 158, 163 [1st Dept 2008], lv denied 11 NY3d 716 [2009]

[“the status of good faith purchaser for value cannot be

maintained by a purchaser with either notice or knowledge of a

prior interest or equity in the property, or one with knowledge

of facts that would lead a reasonably prudent purchaser to make

inquiries concerning such”] [emphasis added, internal quotation

marks omitted]; accord Emigrant Bank v Drimmer, 171 AD3d 1132,

1134 [2d Dept 2019] [same]; Russell v Perrone, 301 AD2d 835, 836

[3d Dept 2003], amended on other grounds 1 AD3d 789 [3d Dept

2003] [“when a purchaser has knowledge of any fact sufficient to

put him on inquiry as to the existence of some right or title in

conflict with that which he is about to purchase, he is presumed

to have made the inquiry and ascertained the extent of such prior
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right”] [internal quotation marks, brackets and ellipsis

omitted]; Donald J. Kochan & James Charles Smith, When Inquiring

Minds Ought To Know . . . , 31 Prob. & Prop. [No. 4] 57, 58

[July/Aug. 2017] [“When purchasers have reason to believe from

the instruments, surrounding circumstances, or facts brought to

their attention that more information may be found about the

interest holders in property — that is, when the duty to inquire

further is triggered — then they must reach out and start

investigating,” and such a purchaser “will be charged with actual

knowledge of whatever facts she might have discovered if she had

completed the mandated, diligent inquiry”]).

When the doctrine of inquiry notice is applied to the facts

of this case, two questions emerge.  First, would the results of

a search for title records indexed against Lot 9 in March 2011

have indicated to “a reasonably prudent purchaser” (2386 Creston

Ave. Realty, 58 AD3d at 163) that it was necessary to expand the

inquiry beyond documents indexed against Lot 9 to locate the

records of all conveyances affecting 57 Crosby over the previous

40 years?  If this question is answered in the affirmative, the

next question is, would the 1981 easement have been revealed by a

further “reasonable inquiry, as suggested by the facts”

(Anderson, 152 NY at 293) obtained from the initial search?  As

indicated at the outset of this opinion, we answer both questions
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in the affirmative.

There is no dispute between the parties as to the records

that would have been revealed by a 40-year search on the ACRIS

database for documents indexed against Lot 9 in March 2011.  Both

sides agree that, as indicated by an ACRIS printout in the

record, such a search would have yielded the following list of

relevant records — in reverse chronological order, and omitting

documents (such as mortgage-related instruments) having no

bearing on this matter — that were indexed against Lot 9 as of

March 2011:

Date of Date Type of Name of Name of
Document Recorded Document Grantor Grantee

4/26/99 5/24/99 Deed Parking Walter
Lot Part- Chatham
nership

4/9/99 5/21/99 Easement Walter 216
Chatham Lafayette

Partners19

[Not 7/1/71 Deed Con Ed Aaron
indicated] Epstein20

19This document is the declaration of the 1999 easement
(benefitting 216 Lafayette), which Chatham apparently signed as
grantor before 57 Crosby (the servient parcel) had been conveyed
to him by Parking Lot Partnership.  Since the validity of the
1999 easement is not at issue in this action, this discrepancy is
not of concern here.

20Rosalyn Epstein’s name does not appear in the printout.
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Two things stand out about the foregoing list of documents

that were indexed against Lot 9 in March 2011.  First, as

plaintiff emphasizes, the 1981 easement is absent.  But, second

(and almost entirely ignored by plaintiff), the search results

would have yielded a glaringly apparent break in the chain of

title to 57 Crosby between Epstein, who is shown to have acquired

the parcel from Con Ed in July 1971, and Parking Lot Partnership,

which is shown to have conveyed the parcel to Walter Chatham in

May 1999.  The results of this search would have given no

indication, in March 2011, (1) of the identity of the grantor

that conveyed 57 Crosby to Parking Lot Partnership, (2) of the

identity of the grantee to which Epstein conveyed 57 Crosby, (3)

of the time at which either conveyance occurred, or (4) of how

many conveyances of the parcel were effected between the 1971 and

1999 transactions.

As previously noted, David J. Carroll, the title industry

professional whose affidavit plaintiff submitted in opposition to

defendant’s summary judgment motion, stated that, “[a]ccording to

commonly accepted standards of the title search industry, a

proper title search should date back for a period of 40 years.” 

It would appear that, under this standard, a prospective

purchaser faced with the above-described results of a title

search limited to Lot 9 in March 2011 would be compelled to
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expand the search beyond Lot 9 to complete a chain of title for

57 Crosby that went back 40 years.  In his affidavit, Carroll

explained the reason that a search limited to Lot 9 in March 2011

would have failed to uncover the 1981 easement.  He did not say,

however, what steps a prudent title searcher should have taken to

attempt to obtain an unbroken 40-year chain of title once the Lot

9 search yielded an unexplained gap between Epstein (who acquired

the parcel in 1971) and Parking Lot Partnership (which sold the

parcel in 1999) — which, by Carroll’s own standard, would have

been an unacceptable result.  Given the gap in the chain of title

that would have appeared from a search limited to Lot 9 in 2011,

Carroll’s statement that the results of such a search “would not

require searching any other parcel from which [Lot 9] may have

derived” apparently conflicts with the 40-year standard he

endorsed for title searches.21

Plainly, a reasonably prudent prospective purchaser of 57

Crosby, faced with the incomplete chain of title obtained from a

search limited to Lot 9, would next have searched for records

21The apparent gap in the chain of title also belies the
statement in plaintiff’s appellate brief that “even a
professional title searcher would have had no indication [from
the results of a search limited to Lot 9] that there was a hole
in the record.”  An almost 30-year break in the chain of title
(from 1971 to 1999) is “a hole in the record” about as gaping as
can be imagined. 
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indexed to the grantee name “Parking Lot Partnership,” the name

of the grantor of the parcel in the deed at the end of the gap.  

That grantee search would have uncovered the 1983 deed from

Spacemakers Two to Parking Lot Partnership, an instrument

indicating that, in 1983, 57 Crosby was part of Lot 30.22  A

search for records indexed against Lot 30 in March 2011 readily

would have revealed both the 1979 deed from the Epsteins to

Spacemakers Two (thereby completing the chain of title) and the

1981 easement.  Accordingly, plaintiff “is chargeable, as a

matter of law, with notice of [the 1981 easement as one] of the

facts which a proper inquiry would have disclosed” (Fairmont

Funding, 301 AD2d at 564).  As one court put it more than a

century ago:

“[Plaintiff] neglected to follow up the inquiry
suggested by a palpable break in the chain of title,
which, had it been followed up with reasonable
diligence, would have led to a knowledge of

22There is no dispute between the parties on this point. 
Carroll admitted that title searchers are able to determine lot
numbers previously assigned to a parcel and to extend the search
to the former lot number when necessary to complete a 40-year
search.  He wrote that, where a lot has been subdivided within
the last 40 years, “a search by an examiner of a newly designated
lot would (based on industry standards of 40 years) necessarily
involve a search of the parcel from which that newly designated
lot derived. . . .  In that case, the examiner would be required
if following industry standards to search back more years [after
going back to the year of the subdivision] and thus would turn up
the ‘parent’ lot . . . and any encumbrances against that lot
within 40 years.”
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[defendant’s] rights in the premises.  As [plaintiff]
might have ascertained such facts by reasonable
prudence and diligence, [it is] chargeable with notice
of such facts” (Lyon v Gombert, 63 Neb 630, 634, 88 NW
774, 775 [1902]).

While plaintiff says virtually nothing about the apparent

gap in the chain of title to 57 Crosby that emerged from its

limited search (and that should have prompted an extension of the

search), it focuses its argument on the contention that the 1981

easement was “erroneously indexed.”  Plaintiff, casting itself as

the “innocent” party in this matter, contends that the risk of

such an indexing error should be borne by defendant, as owner of

the dominant parcel and successor in interest of the presumed

proponent of the 1981 easement.  For several reasons, this line

of argument is unavailing.

Initially, we are not persuaded by plaintiff’s view that an

error was made in the indexing of the 1981 easement.  At the time

the 1981 easement was created and recorded, it was properly

indexed against Lot 30, which then included both the servient

parcel (57 Crosby) and the dominant parcel (214 Lafayette).23 

23We are not persuaded by plaintiff’s assertion that the
notation “LOT P/O 30” (part of Lot 30) on the last page of the
declaration of the 1981 easement constituted an error in the
easement’s recording or indexing.  It is not disputed that, at
all relevant times, a title search of Lot 30 would have turned up
the 1981 easement.  While plaintiff correctly notes that the
failure to index the 1981 easement against Lot 28 (216 Lafayette)
was an error, this was not an error that in any way prejudiced
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However, plaintiff asserts (and it persuaded Supreme Court on

this particular point) that, when Lot 30 was subdivided in 1984,

the 1981 easement should have been re-indexed against the new Lot

9, the revived designation for 57 Crosby.  But plaintiff does not

identify any statute, regulation or rule that would require that

a previously recorded instrument be re-indexed either upon the

subdivision of a lot into two or more smaller lots (as was

effected with respect to Lot 30 in 1984) or upon the merger of

two or more lots into one lot (as was effected with respect to

Lot 9 and Lot 30 at some point in the 1970s).24  In fact, neither

of the title industry professionals who submitted affidavits in

this case (Carroll for plaintiff, Beck for defendant) opined that

the 1981 easement should have been reindexed upon the subdivision

of Lot 30 in 1984.  Carroll’s description of how a title search

of a lot subdivided from a “parent” lot should proceed plainly

assumes that instruments recorded before the subdivision of the

“parent” lot are not reindexed against the new lot designations

plaintiff as a purchaser of 57 Crosby, which was a part of Lot 30
when the easement was created.

24The City Register’s remark, upon defendant’s rerecording
of the 1981 easement against Lots 9 and 28 in 2014, that those
lots “were inadvertently omitted at the time of recording,”
appears to be a misstatement with respect to Lot 9.  When the
1981 easement was originally recorded, Lot 9 did not exist.
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upon the effectuation of the subdivision.25

In any event, we need not decide whether an error was made

in the indexing of the easement because, under the facts of this

case, whether plaintiff is entitled to avoid the 1981 easement as

a bona fide purchaser does not depend on whether some error was

made in the indexing of the declaration that created the

easement.26  Rather, whether plaintiff is so entitled depends on

whether, under all of the circumstances, it had constructive

notice of the 1981 easement when it purchased the servient estate

in 2011.  We have already concluded that plaintiff had such

notice — that the gap in the chain of title apparent from a

search of Lot 9 alone would have led a prudent prospective

25Specifically, Carroll wrote: “[I]f for example, a
subdivision of a lot designated as Lot 1 occurs in 2010, and
produces new lots designated as Lots 2 and 3, a search of Lot 3
in 2017 would only reveal an existence of 7 years.  In that case,
the examiner would be required if following industry standards to
search back more years and thus would turn up the ‘parent’ lot
(i.e., Lot 1) and any encumbrances against that lot within 40
years.”

26The parties appear to agree that it was poor practice to
reuse the Lot 9 designation for 57 Crosby upon the subdivision of
Lot 30 in 1984, although they have not identified any formal rule
that was violated in so doing.  We note that the reuse of the Lot
9 designation was proposed to the City Register by the three
landowners (Parking Lot Partnership, Artsbar, and 55 Associates)
that applied for the subdivision.  The failure to index the
documentation of the subdivision against the new Lots 8 and 9,
which were plainly affected by the subdivision, appears to have
been an error.
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purchaser of 57 Crosby to inquire further and discover the

parcel’s previous designation as part of Lot 30, which would have

led directly to the further discovery of the 1981 easement that

was then indexed against Lot 30.27  It follows, therefore, that

plaintiff cannot avoid the easement as a bona fide purchaser,

whether or not some error was made in the indexing of the

declaration creating that encumbrance or (as appears more likely)

in the indexing of the subsequent instrument subdividing 57

Crosby from Lot 30 and redesignating it as Lot 9 (see Astoria

Fed. Sav. & Loan, 190 AD2d at 645-646 [although the plaintiff’s

mortgage had been “indexed under an erroneous lot number,”

because “the existence of the mortgage lien was clearly recited

in the deed conveying the encumbered property to the (subsequent

purchasers’) predecessor-in-interest,” the subsequent purchasers

“had constructive notice of the plaintiff’s mortgage”]).

We find unavailing plaintiff’s reliance on a line of cases

containing statements to the effect that, in light of Real

Property Law § 316 (providing that indexes “form a part of the

record of each instrument hereafter recorded”), “[a]n error in

27While a purchaser is “not required to search in strange
and unusual places to discover recorded instruments showing
hostile title” (Mackenzie v Augimeri, 210 App Div 156, 158 [4th
Dept 1924]; see also 11 Warren’s Weed § 115.65), plaintiff
plainly could have discovered the 1981 easement in 2011 without
undertaking any such “blind[]” search (id. § 115.69).
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indexing prevents the record from constituting constructive

notice of the filed instrument for the period that the error

remains uncorrected” (Baccari, 70 AD2d at 202; see also Del Pozo

v Impressive Homes, Inc., 95 AD3d 1267, 1268 [2d Dept 2012]

[same]; but see Real Property Law § 317 [providing that an

instrument delivered to a recording officer for recording “is

considered recorded from the time of such delivery”]; 2 Milton R.

Friedman & James Charles Smith, Contracts & Conveyances of Real

Property § 29:5.7, at 29-28——29-29 [8th ed 2019] [discussing

Baccari and its treatment in subsequent decisions]).  As

previously explained, in this case, there was no error in the

indexing of the 1981 easement.  But even if there were such an

error, under the undisputed facts of this case, the error would

not have negated constructive notice because, as previously

explained, it would not have prevented a reasonably prudent and

diligent prospective purchaser from discovering the easement

through the use of ordinary care and diligence.  We do not

believe that the intended meaning of the above-quoted passage

from Baccari was that any error in indexing a recorded instrument

negates constructive notice, even if the error would not have

prevented a reasonably prudent and diligent purchaser from

locating the instrument (cf. Del Pozo, 95 AD3d at 1267-1268 [in

holding that Citibank did not have constructive notice of a
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notice of pendency that had not been indexed at the time Citibank

encumbered the property, the court noted that, “[s]ince the

notice of pendency was not indexed against the property, Citibank

could not, in the exercise of due diligence, have discovered the

plaintiff’s claim”]).28

Finally, in view of the foregoing, we need not determine

whether plaintiff had constructive notice of the 1981 easement

from the contents of the declaration of the 1999 easement.

Accordingly, the order of the Supreme Court, New York County

(Kathryn Freed, J.), entered March 14, 2018, which granted

defendant’s motion for summary judgment dismissing the complaint,

should be modified, on the law, to declare in defendant’s favor

on the first cause of action that plaintiff purchased 57 Crosby 

28While, as noted by Supreme Court and discussed by the
parties, Baccari draws a distinction between errors of
misfeasance and errors of nonfeasance in the indexing of recorded
instruments (see 70 AD2d at 202-204), that distinction is of no
moment here because any indexing error in this case — whether of
misfeasance or of nonfeasance — would not have prevented a
prudent purchaser from discovering the 1981 easement, for the
reasons already discussed.
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with constructive notice of the 1981 easement, and otherwise

affirmed, without costs.  The Clerk is directed to enter judgment

accordingly.

M-1060 Akasa Holdings, LLC v 214
Lafayette House LLC

Motion to strike denied as academic.

All concur.

Order, Supreme Court, New York County (Kathryn Freed, J.),
entered March 14, 2018, modified, on the law, and otherwise
affirmed, without costs.

Opinion by Friedman, J.P.  All concur.

Friedman, J.P., Renwick, Kapnick, Kahn, Oing, JJ.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 3, 2019 

_______________________
CLERK
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